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Dec. 27, 2004.

Background: Customer brought class action
against long-distance telephone service provider
under federal and state Racketeer Influenced and
Corrupt Organizations (RICO) acts, based on pro-
vider's including in its long-distance bills fees
charged by company that conducted telephone
gambling game, which provider had agreed to bill
and collect for company. The United States District
Court for the Southern District of Georgia, No.
92-00147-CV-6,Anthony A. Alaimo, J., entered
judgment on jury verdict for customer and punitive
damages award of $1 million. Provider appealed.

Holdings: The Court of Appeals, Barkett, Circuit
Judge, held that:

(1) provider had duty under mail and wire fraud
statutes to correct mistaken impression that com-
pany's fees, i.e. gambling debts, were for long-
distance charges;

(2) reliance element was not negated by fact that
customer was misled by local exchange carrier
(LEC);

(3) provider was involved in business of gambling
within meaning of RICO;

(4) reprehensibility of provider's conduct was suffi-
cient to warrant punitive damages award; but

(5) punitive damages of $1 million violated Due
Process Clause, warranting reduction to $250,000.

Affirmed in part, reversed in part and remanded.

West Headnotes

[1] Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €==10

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HI Federal Regulation
319HI(A) In Genera

319Hk4 Racketeering or Criminal Activ-

ity
319Hk10 k. Fraud in General. Most

Cited Cases
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations
(RICO) Act claim with mail or wire fraud as pre-
dicate activity requires showing that: (1) defendant
intentionally participated in scheme to defraud an-
other of money or property; (2) defendant used
mails or wires in furtherance of that scheme; and
(3) plaintiff relied to his detriment on defendant's
misrepresentations. 18 U.S.C.A. 88 1341, 1343,
1961 et seq.

[2] Postal Service 306 €~~35(10)

306 Postal Service
306l11 Offenses Against Postal Laws
306k35 Use of Mailsto Defraud
306k35(10) k. Nature of Scheme or
Devicein General. Most Cited Cases

Telecommunications 372 €=21014(2)

372 Telecommunications

372111 Telephones

372I11(l) Offenses and Prosecutions
372k1011 Offenses
372k1014 Wire Fraud
372k1014(2) k. Nature and Ele-

ments of Offense in General. Most Cited Cases

(Formerly 372k362)
Nondisclosure of material information, even in ab-
sence of any patently false statements, can consti-
tute violation of federal mail and wire fraud statutes
where defendant has duty to disclose. 18 U.S.C.A.
8§ 1341, 1343.
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[3] Postal Service 306 €=>35(10)

306 Postal Service
306111 Offenses Against Postal Laws
306k35 Use of Mailsto Defraud
306k35(10) k. Nature of Scheme or
Devicein General. Most Cited Cases

Telecommunications 372 €-51014(8)

372 Telecommunications
372111 Telephones
372111(I) Offenses and Prosecutions
372k1011 Offenses
372k1014 Wire Fraud

372k1014(8) k. Nature of Scheme

or Devicein General. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 372k362)

Under federal mail and wire fraud statutes, long-
distance telephone service provider's including in
its long-distance bills fees charged by company that
conducted telephone gambling game, which pro-
vider had agreed to bill and collect for company,
gave rise to duty on provider's part to correct mis-
taken impression that fees, i.e. gambling debts,
were for long-distance charges and that customers
would lose their long-distance service if fees were
not paid; fees appeared under heading “direct dialed
calls” and were interspersed among charges for reg-
ular long-distance cals. 18 U.S.C.A. 8§ 1341,
1343.

[4] Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €10

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HI Federal Regulation
319HI(A) In General

319Hk4 Racketeering or Criminal Activ-

ity
319Hk10 k. Fraud in General. Most

Cited Cases
In mail and wire fraud-predicated Racketeer Influ-
enced and Corrupt Organizations (RICO) Act civil
suit arising from long-distance telephone service

provider's including in its long-distance bills fees
charged by company that conducted telephone
gambling game, which provider had agreed to bill
and collect for company, reliance element was not
negated by fact that plaintiff customer called local
exchange carrier (LEC) and was told, falsely, that
his telephone service would be terminated if he did
not pay listed fees; if provider's bill had contained
necessary disclosures, customer's call to LEC
would have been unnecessary. 18 U.S.C.A. 8§
1341, 1343, 1961 et seq.

[5] Lotteries 247 €3

247 Lotteries
2471 Regulation and Prohibition
247k3 k. Lotteries and Distributions or
Schemes Therefor Subject to Regulation or Prohib-
ited. Most Cited Cases

Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €==14

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HI Federal Regulation
319HI(A) In Genera

319Hk4 Racketeering or Criminal Activ-

ity
319Hk14 k. Collection of Unlawful

Debts. Most Cited Cases

Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €~>103

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HI1 State Regulation
319HII(A) In Genera
319Hk103 k. Racketeering or Criminal
Activity; Predicate Acts. Most Cited Cases
Game in which participants would call telephone
number for chance to win a prize, and would be
charged a per-minute fee, was illegal lottery under
Georgia law, and thus long-distance telephone ser-
vice provider's act of including fees charged by

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.



Page 3

393 F.3d 1354, RICO Bus.Disp.Guide 10,803, 18 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C 130

(Citeas: 393 F.3d 1354)

company in provider's long-distance bills, pursuant
to agreement with company, constituted collection
of unlawful debts in violation of federal Racketeer
Influenced and Corrupt Organizations (RICO) Act
and Georgia racketeering statute. 18 U.S.C.A. §
1961(6)(B); West's Ga.Code Ann. 8§ 16-12-20(4),
16-14-3(9)(A) (xvii).

[6] Gaming 188 €=>67

188 Gaming
188l11 Criminal Responsibility
188l11(A) Offenses
188k64 Elements of Criminal Gaming

188k67 k. Bet or Stake. Most Cited
Cases
Under Georgia gambling statute, in order for game
to amount to illegal gambling, it is only necessary
that among those persons who receive chance to
win prize there must be some who have paid con-
sideration; i.e., not all who receive chance to win
need to have paid consideration. West's Ga.Code
Ann. § 16-12-20(4).

[7] Gaming 188 €=26(1)

188 Gaming
188l Gambling Contracts and Transactions
1881 (B) Rights and Remedies of Parties
188k22 Partiesto Bet or Game
188k26 Recovery of Payments
188k26(1) k. In General. Most
Cited Cases
Under Georgia law, illegal gambling contracts are
not enforced, but are instead rescinded, meaning
that although an individual cannot sue to collect his
winnings, he can sue to get his money back.

[8] Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €14

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HI Federal Regulation
319HI(A) In General
319Hk4 Racketeering or Criminal Activ-

ity

319Hk14 k. Collection of Unlawful
Debts. Most Cited Cases
Long-distance telephone service provider was in-
volved in “business of gambling” within meaning
of Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations
(RICO) Act and thus collected unlawful debts when
it included in its long-distance bills the fees
charged by company that conducted telephone
gambling game, which provider had agreed to bill
and collect for company; provider collected approx-
imately $287,000 from state residents who called
game, indicating that billing was regular part of
provider's business operations. 18 U.S.C.A. §
1961(6)(B).

[9] Telecommunications 372 €~-997(3)

372 Telecommunications
372111 Telephones
372I11(G) Rates and Charges
372k991 Liability for Charges;, Payment
and Collection
372k997 Remedies
372k997(3) k. Recovery of Over-
charge. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 372k349)
Georgia's voluntary payment statute did not bar
customer's recovery in action alleging that long-
distance service provider violated federal and state
racketeering statutes by including in its long-
distance hills fees charged by company that con-
ducted telephone gambling game, where jury found
that customer's payment of game fees that appeared
as long-distance charges on his telephone bill was
result of fraud. West's Ga.Code Ann. § 13-1-13.

[10] Constitutional Law 92 €=-4427

92 Constitutional Law
92XXVII Due Process
92X XVII(G) Particular Issues and Applica-
tions
92XXVI1(G)19 Tort or Financial Liabilit-
ies
92k4427 k. Punitive Damages. Most
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Cited Cases
(Formerly 92k303)

Factors in whether punitive damages award is con-
stitutionally excessive under Due Process Clause
are: (1) degree of reprehensibility of defendant's
conduct; (2) disparity between actual or potential
harm suffered by plaintiff and punitive damages
award; and (3) difference between punitive dam-
ages awarded by jury and civil penalties authorized
or imposed in comparable cases. U.S.C.A.
Const.Amend. 14.

[11] Federal Courts 170B €776

170B Federal Courts
170BVII1I Courts of Appeals
170BVI11(K) Scope, Standards, and Extent
170BVI11(K)1 In Genera

170Bk776 k. Trial De Novo. Most
Cited Cases
Court of Appeals reviews de novo constitutionality
of district court jury's punitive damages award un-
der Due Process Clause. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend.
14.

[12] Constitutional Law 92 €=54427

92 Constitutional Law
92XXVII Due Process
92X XVII(G) Particular Issues and Applica-
tions
92XXVI1(G)19 Tort or Financial Liabhilit-
ies
92k4427 k. Punitive Damages. Most
Cited Cases
(Formerly 92k303)
Factors in evaluating reprehensibility of defendant's
conduct, as part of analysis of whether punitive
damages award violates Due Process Clause, in-
clude whether: (1) injury caused physical harm; (2)
tortious conduct demonstrated indifference to, or
reckless disregard of, health or safety of others; (3)
target was financially vulnerable; (4) conduct in-
volved repeated actions; and (5) harm was result of
intentional malice, trickery, or deceit. U.S.C.A.
Const.Amend. 14.

[13] Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiz-
ations 319H €85

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HI Federal Regulation
319HI(B) Civil Remedies and Proceedings
319Hk81 Relief
319Hk85 k. Damages. Most Cited
Cases

Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €~>118

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HII State Regulation
319H11(B) Civil Remedies and Proceedings
319Hk118 k. Relief. Most Cited Cases

Long-distance telephone service provider's act of
including in its long-distance bills fees charged by
company that conducted telephone gambling game,
which provider had agreed to bill and collect for
company, in violation of federal and state racket-
eering statutes, was sufficiently reprehensible to
find that award of punitive damages would not be
excessive under the Due Process Clause; provider's
conduct was deceitful and involved repeated ac-
tions, and could be deemed as designed to exploit
unsophisticated customers, and there was little
evidence that provider acted to shut down gambling
line until it was sued. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14;
18 U.S.C.A. § 1961 et seq.; West's Ga.Code Ann.
§8 16-14-1 et seq., 51-12-5.1(b).

[14] Constitutional Law 92 €~-4427

92 Constitutional Law
92XXVII Due Process
92X XVII(G) Particular Issues and Applica-
tions
92XXVII(G)19 Tort or Financial Liabilit-
ies
92k4427 k. Punitive Damages. Most
Cited Cases
(Formerly 92k303)
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Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €~-85

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HI Federal Regulation
319HI(B) Civil Remedies and Proceedings
319Hk81 Relief
319Hk85 k. Damages. Most Cited
Cases

Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions 319H €~>118

319H Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organiza-
tions
319HII State Regulation
319HI1(B) Civil Remedies and Proceedings
319Hk118 k. Relief. Most Cited Cases
Punitive damages award of $1 million violated Due
Process Clause in civil action brought under Rack-
eteer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations (RICO)
Act and state racketeering statute, which arose from
long-distance tel ephone service provider's including
in its long-distance bills fees charged by company
that conducted telephone gambling game, which
provider had agreed to bill and collect for company;
while provider's actions were reprehensible,
plaintiff's actual damages were only $115, warrant-
ing reduction of award to $250,000, still sufficient
to promote state's interest in deterring fraud and il-
legal gambling. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14; 18
U.S.C.A. 88 1341, 1343, 1961 et seq.; West's
Ga.Code Ann. §8 16-14-1 et seq., 51-12-5.1(b).
*1357 C. LeeAnn McCurry, Norman L. Under-
wood, William N. Withrow, Jr., Troutman Sanders,
Atlanta, GA, Wyck A. Knox, Jr., Joseph H. Huff,
Kilpatrick Stockton, LLP, Augusta, GA, Ted
Hamby Clarkson, Kilpatrick Stockton, LLP, Se-
wanee, TN, for AT&T.

Leroy W. Brigham, John C. Bell, Jr., Bell & James,
Augusta, GA, for Kemp.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the

Southern District of Georgia

Before BIRCH, BARKETT and COX, Circuit
Judges.

BARKETT, Circuit Judge:

AT&T appeals the district court's denials of its mo-
tion for judgment as a matter of law seeking to set
aside a jury verdict in favor of Felix Kemp and its
motion to reduce the jury's punitive damages
award. The jury determined that AT& T was guilty
of fraudulent billing practices and the collection of
illegal gambling debts in violation of the federal
and Georgia RICO statutes. These gambling debts
were incurred after Kemp's grandson called a
900-number named “Let's Make a Deal,” which
offered callers a chance to win various prizes in ex-
change for afee. AT&T attempted to collect these
debts by including them in Kemp's phone bill as
though they were long distance charges. The jury
awarded Kemp $115.05 in actual damages, the
costs of playing the game, which were then trebled
under the RICO statutes, and also awarded Kemp
punitive damages of one million dollars. For the
reasons given below, we affirm the denial of
AT&T's motion for judgment as a matter of law.
However, we conclude that the trial court erred by
letting the jury's punitive damages award stand and
therefore reduce the award.

I. BACKGROUND

The “Let's Make a Deal” game (“LMAD”) was cre-
ated by Teleline, Inc., based on the famous televi-
sion show of the same name. The game ran from
early *1358 1990 until December 1992. When
participants called the 900 line, they were asked to
pick a number using their touchtone phones that
corresponded to a figurative “door” that concealed
a prize. If callers guessed correctly, they could
either keep the prize or instead proceed to the next
“level.” Upon successfully completing all six levels
of the game, callers were entitled to a cash prize of
$2000. The odds of winning this prize were approx-
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imately 1 in 2700. The cost of playing the game
was $3.88 per minute, and there was no set time for
how long any particular call would last.

FN1. In December 1992, an injunction was
entered barring the operation of the game.

AT&T carried calls to LMAD's 900 numbers over
its long distance network and played the prerecor-
ded messages that callers heard when they called
the line. Individuals who called LMAD were not
charged for the price of a phone call, but instead
paid only for the “content” provided by Teleline,
namely, the ability to gamble using their phones. It
was Teleline who paid AT&T for the cost of each
phone call to LMAD. Notwithstanding that the
charges incurred in playing the game were owed
exclusively to Teleline and were not debts for long
distance calls, AT&T listed these charges in its
long distance phone bill, interspersed with charges
for long distance calls. AT&T billed individuals
who called LMAD from Georgia $360,252.40 and
collected $287,360.59. This disparity is due in part
to AT&T's policy of erasing LMAD fees for cus-
tomers who complained sufficiently about the
charges. In exchange for its billing services, AT& T
received a commission of six percent of the fees it
collected on behalf of Teleline.

FN2. The fee Teleline paid to AT& T was
based on a standard tariff rate. As a tele-
phone common carrier, AT&T files sched-
ules with the FCC that includes the terms
and conditions of its long distance ser-
vices. 47 U.S.C. § 203.

Kemp was a long distance customer of AT& T who
received a bill containing multiple charges for play-
ing the LMAD game intermingled among charges
for long distance phone calls. The LMAD charges
appeared on pages marked with AT&T's nhame and
logo. The remainder of the bill contained charges
for local phone service owed to BellSouth, in which
only BellSouth's name and logo appeared. Despite
the separate sections for local and long distance
charges, the entire portion of the bill was to be paid

to BellSouth, which purchased AT&T's accounts
receivable.

Upon noticing the LMAD charges, Kemp called the
number for BellSouth listed in his phone bill, seek-
ing information about these debts. After a Bell-
South representative told Kemp that he owed the
entire amount of the bill and would lose phone ser-
viceif herefused to pa'gNléemp paid for the charges
and later brought suit. At trial, the jury agreed
with Kemp that AT&T's billing practices were
fraudulent and constituted a pattern of racketeering
activity within the meaning of the federal and Geor-
gia RICO statutes. In addition, the jury determined
that AT&T's actions amounted to illegal gambling
under state law and that the collection of these un-
lawful debts also violated RICO. The jury awarded
Kemp both compensatory damages and the afore-
mentioned one million dollars in punitive damages.
AT&T moved for judgment as a matter of law and
for a reduction of the punitive damages*1359
award. The district court denied both motions and
this appeal followed.

FN3. Kemp also sued Teleline and USA
Networks, which broadcast commercials
for the LMAD line. Both companies were
dismissed from the lawsuit.

I1. DISCUSSION

A. AT& T's Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law

A motion for judgment as a matter of law should be
granted only if a court finds that “there can be but
one reasonable conclusion as to the proper judg-
ment.” See Bryan v. James E. Holmes Reg'l Med.
Ctr., 33 F.3d 1318, 1333 (11th Cir.1994) (internal
guotation marks omitted). AT& T argues that it was
entitled to judgment as a matter of law because the
jury's findings were unreasonable given the evid-
ence presented at trial. Specifically, AT&T claims
that Kemp failed to offer sufficient evidence for the
jury to reasonably conclude that (1) AT& T's actions
violated the mail or wire fraud statutes and Geor-
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gias theft by deception statute; (2) AT&T's billing
practices amounted to the collection of unlawful
debts in violation of state and federal RICO; and
(3) Kemp's payments were made involuntarily with-
in the meaning of state law. We address each con-
tention in turn.

1. RICO Violations For Racketeering Activity In-
volving Mail and Wire Fraud and Theft by Decep-
tion

In reviewing AT&T's motion for judgment as a
matter of law on this issue, we consider whether
there was a reasonable evidentiary basis for the jury
to conclude that AT&T's actions constituted federal
mail or wire fraud, under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1341 and
1343, respectively, and theft by deception under
state law, Ga.Code Ann. § 16-8-3, which were the
predicate crimes triggering RICO liability. See
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations
Act (“RICO"), 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et seq., and the
Georgia RICO Act, Ga.Code Ann. § 16-14-1 et seq.
Given the materially equivalent elements for estab-
lishing a claim of mail or wire fraud and theft by
deception, the district court only required that
Kemp prove that AT&T committed mail and wire
fraud. Since neither party challenges the correct-
ness of this decision on appeal, we consider only
whether Kemp established sufficient facts in order
to prove mail or wire fraud. And because the ele-
ments of the mail and wire fraud statutes are the
same, we consider these claims together. See Pel-
letier v. Zweifel, 921 F.2d 1465, 1498 (11th
Cir.1991).

[1] In order to bring a RICO claim where mail or
wire fraud serves as the predicate activity, it is ne-
cessary to show that (1) the defendant intentionally
participated in a scheme to defraud another of
money or property, (2) the defendant used the mails
or wires in furtherance of that scheme, and (3) the
plaintiff relied to his detriment on the defendant's
misrepresentations. 1d. at 1498-99. Only intent and
reliance are at issue in this appeal, since AT&T ob-
viously used the mails when it sent Kemp his phone

bill.

[2] AT&T argues that Kemp failed to provide suffi-
cient evidence that it intended to deceive him be-
cause none of the statements in its long distance
phone bill were false. As this court has explained,
however, it is not necessary for a plaintiff to point
to affirmative misstatements in order to establish
the requisite fraudulent intent of a defendant under
the mail and wire fraud statutes. Langford v. Rite
Aid of Ala, Inc, 231 F.3d 1308, 1312 (1ith
Cir.2000) (“Intent to defraud need not be shown
through active misrepresentation-material omis-
sions can be fraudulent if they are intended to cre-
ate a false impression.”). The nondisclosure of ma-
terial information, even in the absence of any pat-
ently false statements, can also constitute a viola-
tion of the mail and wire fraud *1360 statutes
where a defendant has a duty to disclose. See Ayres
v. Gen. Motors Corp., 234 F.3d 514, 521 (11th
Cir.2000). Such a duty can be judicially created
where there is a special relationship of trust
between the parties, or may be based on other cir-
cumstances. See Langford, 231 F.3d at 1312-13
(“Determinations as to whether a duty to disclose
information exists must be made on a case by case
basis, with appropriate attention given to the nature
of the transaction and the relationship between the
parties.”).

[3] In this case, once AT&T included the LMAD
charges in the section of its bill for long distance
calls, it had the duty to correct the mistaken impres-
sion it had fostered that the LMAD debts were for
long distance charges. See United States v. Autuori,
212 F.3d 105, 119 (2nd Cir.2000) (“A duty to dis-
close can also arise in a situation where a defendant
makes partial or ambiguous statements that require
further disclosure in order to avoid being mislead-
ing.”); United States v. Townley, 665 F.2d 579, 585
(5th Cir.1982) (noting that “under the mail fraud
statute, it isjust as unlawful to speak ‘half truths' or
to omit to state facts necessary to make the state-
ments made, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading”). The
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LMAD gambling charges appeared under the head-
ing “direct dialed cals’ in Kemp's phone bill and
were interspersed among charges for regular long
distance calls. AT&T's name and logo were dis-
played on all the pages containing the LMAD
charges. It was clearly foreseeable that this format-
ting would cause some customers to think that the
LMAD charges were for a long distance phone call
owed to AT&T and that the charges had to be paid
in order to maintain phone service. In fact,
however, the LMAD charges were not long dis-
tance charges but were gambling debts owed only
to Teleline, and as AT& T acknowledged at trial, in-
dividuals could not lose phone service for failing to
pay these debts. Moreover, as we explain below,
the LMAD fees constituted illegal gambling debts
that could not be collected lawfully under Georgia
law.

FN4. The possibility that individuas
would be misled by AT&T's billing prac-
tices motivated a group of state attorneys
general to petition the company to segreg-
ate 900-numbers from regular long dis-
tance charges. The group also asked AT& T
to identify the name and address of the
creditor to whom the charge was owed,
and to inform consumers that they could
dispute the 900-number charges and that
their telephone service could not be dis-
connected for failing to pay these debts.
AT&T declined, explaining that such
changes would “likely encourage unjusti-
fied non-payment and generate great in-
creases in uncollectible amounts.” There-
fore, AT& T was clearly aware that its cus-
tomers would be far less likely to pay the
LMAD charges if they were informed
about the true nature of the debts.

In light of the circumstances here, and most spe-
cifically the way the charges were placed on the
bill, we are satisfied that sufficient evidence sup-
ports the jury's conclusion that AT&T intended to
mislead customers into believing that they had to

pay the LMAD debts in order to maintain uninter-
rupted phone service. Asaresult, AT&T had a duty
to place adequate information on its bill that would
have disclosed the true nature of the LMAD
charges and corrected the misconception it had in-
tentionally created.F See Autuori, 212 F.3d at
119.

FN5. Although no such statutory duty exis-
ted at the time the calls in this case were
made, under current federal law, AT&T
must explain to its customers that the fail-
ure to pay 900-number charges will not
result in the loss of long distance service.
According to federal regulations, a com-
mon carrier, such as AT&T, must provide
directly, or “through contract with any loc-
al exchange carrier providing billing and
collection services,” a disclosure statement
indicating that a common carrier does not
have the right to “disconnect or interrupt in
any manner, or order the disconnection or
interruption of, a telephone subscriber's
local exchange or long distance telephone
service as a result of that subscriber's fail-
ure to pay” a 900-number charge. See 47
C.F.R. 88 64.1507(a) and 64.1509(b)(2).

*1361 [4] Because AT&T was under a duty to
make this disclosure, the company cannot argue
that Kemp failed to rely on AT&T's omissions. Al-
though it was a BellSouth representative who erro-
neously stated that Kemp's service would be ter-
minated if he did not pay for the LMAD charges,
had AT&T's long distance bill contained the neces-
sary disclosures, Kemp need not have called Bell-
South for an explanation. AT&T's material omis-
sions were thus an essential part of Kemp's decision
to pay these gambling debts. The district court did
not err in denying AT&T's motion for judgment as
a matter of law with respect to the jury's finding of
fraud. See U.S. EEOC v. W& O, Inc., 213 F.3d 600,
610 (11th Cir.2000) (judgment as a matter of law
should be denied unless the evidence “is so one-
sided that one party must prevail as a matter of
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law™).

2. lllegal Gambling and Collection of an Unlawful
Debt

[5] AT&T argues that the district court erred when
it concluded that the LMAD game violated Geor-
gias prohibition on illegal gambling. As a result,
the company maintains that the jury's finding that it
collected unlawful debts in violation of the federal
and Georgia RICO statutes should be reversed,
since both RICO claims are founded on a violation
of Georgia's ban on gambling. See 18 U.S.C. §
1961(6) (“unlawful debt” under federal RICO stat-
ute includes debts incurred in activities that violate
state gambling laws) and GacCode Ann. §
16-14-3(9)(A)(xvii) (racketeering activity under
Georgia RICO includes violations of state prohibi-
tion on commercial gambling).

Under state law, the LMAD game was an illegal
lottery if it was a “scheme or procedure whereby
one or more prizes are distributed by chance among
persons who have paid or promised consideration
for a chance to win such prize.” Ga.Code Ann. §
16-12-20(4). This definition incorporates three key
elements: consideration, prize and chance. See
Tierce v. State, 122 Ga.App. 845, 846, 178 S.E.2d
913 (1970). Kemp maintains that all three elements
were satisfied by showing that his grandson called a
number that offered a chance to win a prize in ex-
change for afee. AT& T responds that because non-
callers could also participate in the game through
the mail, the element of consideration was negated.

[6][7][8] As the Georgia Court of Appeals has ex-
plained, in order for a game to amount to illegal
gambling, it is only necessary that “among those
persons who receive a chance to win a prize there
must be some who have paid a consideration.” Id.
at 847, 178 S.E.2d 913; see also Barker v. Sate, 56
Ga.App. 705, 193 S.E. 605, 607 (1937) (“Thetest is
not whether it was possible to win without pay-
ing.... The test is whether that group who did pay ...
were paying in part for the chance of a prize.”)

(internal quotation marks omitted). Clearly, the ele-
ment of consideration was present for those callers
who called the line, since they were charged $3.88
per minute to play and have the chance of winning
aprize. Therefore, LMAD was an illegal lottery un-
der Georgia law and the district court did not err in
rejectinlg\‘%T&T's motion for judgment as a matter
of law.

FN6. On appeal, AT&T also argues that
even if it violated Georgias ban on
gambling, Kemp cannot recover because
state law bars the enforcement of an illegal
gambling contract. Under Georgia law, il-
legal gambling contracts are not enforced,
but are instead rescinded. This means that
although an individual cannot sue to col-
lect his winnings, he can sue to get his
money back. See Roney v. Crawford, 135
Ga 1, 68 S.E. 701, 702 (1910). Kemp ob-
viously is suing to recover losses he
suffered, not to collect any prize offered by
LMAD. Georgia law does not bar his re-
ceipt of damages. We also disagree with
AT&T's position that it was not in the
business of gambling within the meaning
of the federal RICO statute. See 18 U.S.C.
§ 1961(6)(B). During its relationship with
Teleline, AT&T collected $287,360.59
from Georgia residents who called LMAD.
Clearly, billing for LMAD calls was a reg-
ular part of AT& T's business operations.

*1362 3. Whether Georgia's Voluntary Payment
Statute Bars Kemp's Recovery

[9] Georgias voluntary payment statute, which
AT&T claims bars Kemp's recovery, provides that:

Payments of claims made through ignorance of
the law or where al the facts are known and there
is no misplaced confidence and no artifice, de-
ception, or fraudulent practice used by the other
party are deemed voluntary and cannot be re-
covered unless made under an urgent and imme-
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diate necessity therefor or to release person or
property from detention or to prevent an immedi-
ate seizure of person or property. Filing a protest
at the time of payment does not change the rule
prescribed in this Code section.

Ga.Code Ann. § 13-1-13 (emphasis added).

Under section 13-1-13, a payment will not be
deemed voluntary if it was the product of fraud. See
Decatur Fed. Sav. & Loan v. Gibson, 268 Ga. 362,
363, 489 S.E.2d 820 (Ga.1997). Therefore, in light
of the jury's finding of fraud, we conclude that
Kemp's payment was not made voluntarily under
Georgialaw.

B. AT&T's Motion for Remittitur of the Punitive
Damages Award

[10] Given the jury's findings that AT&T acted
fraudulently and knowingly collected gambling
debts, there was sufficient evidence to justify an
imposition of some_amount of exemplary damages
under state law. However, the fact that some
amount of exemplary damages was warranted in
this case does not end our inquiry. The Due Process
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the
imposition of grossly excessive or arbitrary punish-
ments on a defendant and creates substantive limits
on the amount of punitive damages a state may im-
pose. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell,
538 U.S. 408, 416, 123 S.Ct. 1513, 155 L.Ed.2d
585 (2003). In determining whether the jury's
award crosses this substantive line and is constitu-
tionally excessive, we are required by the Supreme
Court to consider three guideposts: (1) the degree
of reprehensibility of the defendant's conduct; (2)
the disparity between the actual or potential harm
suffered by the plaintiff and the punitive damages
award; and (3) the difference between the punitive
damages awarded by the jury and the civil penalties
authorized or imposed in comparable cases. Id. at
418, 123 S.Ct. 1513.

FN7. Under Ga.Code Ann. § 51-12-5.1(b),

“punitive damages may be awarded only in
such tort actions in which it is proven by
clear and convincing evidence that the de-
fendant's actions showed willful miscon-
duct, malice, fraud, wantonness, oppres-
sion, or that entire want of care which
would raise the presumption of conscious
indifference to consequences.”

[11] We review the constitutionality of the jury's
punitive damages award de novo. Cooper Indus.,
Inc., v. Leatherman Tool Group, Inc., 532 U.S. 424,
436, 121 S.Ct. 1678, 149 L.Ed.2d 674 (2001).

*1363 1. Reprehensibility Analysis

[12] The reprehensibility of a defendant's conduct
is “[p]erhaps the most important indicium of the
reasonableness of a punitive damages award.”
BMW of N. Am., Inc., v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 575,
116 S.Ct. 1589, 134 L.Ed.2d 809 (1996). In con-
ducting this reprehensibility analysis, the Supreme
Court has articulated several factors for a court to
consider. These factors include: (1) whether the in-
jury caused physical harm; (2) whether the tortious
conduct demonstrated an indifference to, or a reck-
less disregard of, the health or safety of others; (3)
whether the target was financially vulnerable; (4)
whether the conduct involved repeated actions; and
(5) whether the harm was the result of intentional
malice, trickery, or deceit. Campbell, 538 U.S. at
419, 123 S.Ct. 1513.

[13] The district court found that the first two
factors did not apply in this case, while the remain-
ing three were met. We agree with the district court
that AT&T's conduct was deceitful and involved re-
peated actions. We think the trial court was also
justified in finding that AT& T intended to target
financially vulnerable individuals given the jury's
finding of fraud. AT&T's efforts to misleadingly
represent gambling debts, which were illegal under
Georgialaw, as |legitimate charges for long distance
calls could be deemed by a jury to be designed to
exploit customers who were unsophisticated and
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economically vulnerable.

Furthermore, like the trial court, we find little evid-
ence that AT&T made a genuine attempt to shut-
down the LMAD line before the events in this case
transpired. It was not until AT&T was sued that it
revised its 900-number guidelines in April 1992 to
prohibit gambling lines for which it provided col-
lection services from advertising or operating in
Georgia. Despite the guidelines, Teleline continued
to advertise and operate the LMAD game in Geor-
gia for another five months. It was not until
September 1992-after the calls at issue in this case
had been made-that Teleline sought to block calls
from Georgia residents to LMAD. However, as the
district court noted in its order, at the time AT&T
instructed Teleline to stop accepting calls from
Georgia, Teleline lacked the necessary technology
to block calls on AT&T's network. Furthermore, al-
though AT&T told LMAD to stop advertising in
Georgia, the company knew that Teleline relied on
national advertisements on television that were
broadcast within Georgia.

Based on the above, we find sufficient evidence for
the district court's legal characterization of AT&T's
conduct. AT&T collected $287,360.59 in illegal
gambling debts for calls placed to the LMAD line.
This sort of large-scale corporate malfeasance
clearly merited a substantial penalty.

2. Ratio Between Compensatory and Punitive Dam-
ages

[14] Although the Supreme Court has resisted es-
tablishing a specific ratio beyond which a damage
award will violate the Constitution, in practice “few
awards exceeding a single-digit ratio between pun-
itive and compensatory damages, to a significant
degree, will satisfy due process.” Id. at 425, 123
S.Ct. 1513. Obviously, this single-digit multiplier
was exceeded in this case to a considerable extent.
However, as the Supreme Court has explained, in
some situations a higher ratio may be appropriate
where a “particularly egregious act has resulted in

only a small amount of economic damages.” Id.
(internal quotation marks omitted). Given the small
amount of economic damages in this case, the dis-
trict court believed that AT&T's conduct fell within
this exception,*1364 since the company's conduct
was deceitful, involved repeated illegal acts, and
targeted the financially vulnerable.

We agree with the district court that a mechanical
application of the Supreme Court's single-digit mul-
tiplier formula would not adequately take account
of the seriousness of AT&T's misconduct. In Jo-
hansen v. Combustion Engineering, Inc., 170 F.3d
1320 (11th Cir.1999), we upheld a punitive award
of $4.35 million dollars, which was around 100
times the amount of actual damages awarded by the
jury, because this amount was “justified by the need
to deter this and other large organizations from a
‘pollute and pay’ environmental policy.” 170 F.3d
at 1339. We noted that the defendant in Jo-
hansen was “a large and extremely wealthy interna-
tional corporation” and that sometimes a “bigger
award is needed to attract the ... attention of alarge
corporation” in order to promote deterrence effect-
ively. Id. at 1338 (internal quotation marks omit-
ted). We later explained that the result in Johansen
was motivated by the recognition that “the combin-
ation of a small damages award and a strong state
interest in deterrence of a particular wrongful act
may justify ‘ratios higher than might otherwise be
acceptable.” ” W& O, Inc., 213 F.3d at 616 (quoting
Johansen, 170 F.3d at 1338).

FN8. The aggregate amount of compensat-
ory damages awarded in Johansen was
$47,000. 170 F.3d at 1326. Obviously, the
actual damages in this case are far lower,
indicating that aratio greater than 100-to-1
may be appropriate.

Like the state interest at issue in Johansen, Geor-
giasinterest in deterring fraud and illegal gambling
also justifies a ratio “higher than might otherwise
be acceptable.” Johansen, 170 F.3d at 1338. Redu-
cing the jury's award to an amount not significantly
larger than nine times the actual damages awarded
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in this case would mean that AT&T would receive
a sanction of little more than a thousand dollars.
Such an amount, levied against a company as large
as AT&T, would utterly fail to serve the traditional
purposes underlying an award of punitive damages,
which are to punish and deter. See Gore, 517 U.S.
at 568, 116 S.Ct. 1589 (“Punitive damages may
properly be imposed to further a State's legitimate
interests in punishing unlawful conduct and deter-
ring its repetition.”). Therefore, we agree with the
district court that this case falls within the excep-
tion articulated in Gore.

3. Civil and Criminal Sanctions for Smilar Con-
duct

The third factor, which is accorded less weight in
the reasonabl eness analysis than the first two guide-
posts, involves a comparison between “the punitive
damages award and the ‘civil penalties authorized
or imposed in comparable cases.” " Campbell, 538
U.S. at 428, 123 S.Ct. 1513.

The district court did not compare the jury's award
to any civil judgments for violations of RICO
where unlawful gambling has served as the predic-
ate act. It stated that “[n]o civil cases involving
punitive damages, analyzed under the Gore frame-
work could be located for comparison.” Dist. Ct.
Order at *43. Given this lacuna, the trial court re-
lied entirely on comparisons between the jury
award and criminal sanctions for violating RICO.
In Campbell, the Supreme Court stated that while it
is true that “[t]he existence of a criminal penalty
does have bearing on the seriousness with which a
State views the wrongful action,” when comparis-
ons to criminal penalties are “used to determine the
dollar amount of the award, however, the criminal
penalty has less utility.” 538 U.S. at 428, 123 S.Ct.
1513. The Campbell Court noted that “[g]reat care
must be taken to avoid use of the civil process to
* 1365 assess criminal penalties that can be imposed
only after the heightened protections of a criminal
trial have been observed.” Id. Therefore, we are
careful to avoid placing too much reliance on the

size of criminal penalties in assessing the reason-
ableness of the jury's award.

4. Conclusion

We believe the facts of this case clearly support a
very significant award. AT&T engaged in what
amounted to an illegal gambling scheme in the state
of Georgia. Without AT&T's decision to particip-
ate, the operation could never have succeeded. This
fact was forcefully expressed by the president of
Teleline, Mr. Lorsch, who testified that:

[I]f you couldn't bill or you couldn't collect, there
would be no reason to operate the program or
have the program. It was-the fact that AT&T
would offer billing and collection [that] was the
inducement to be in the business. | mean you had
the biggest company in the world putting their
name on a piece of paper that says, “This is a
good program, pay for it.”

Given AT&T's critical role in the operation of the
LMAD line, the company deserved to pay a serious
penalty for its misconduct. In addition, the punitive
award needed to be large enough to deter AT&T's
misconduct. See W& O, Inc., 213 F.3d at 616-17
(noting that “wealth and size of the defendant”
could be considered in determining whether the
punitive damages award was reasonabllzelzI 9(internal
guotation marks and citation omitted). A pun-
itive award that was not much larger than nine
times the amount of actual damages, or approxim-
ately athousand dollars, would not effectively pun-
ish AT&T for its conduct or serve any deterrent
value whatsoever. Clearly, the Supreme Court, in
erecting a “guidepost” that requires considering the
ratio of punitive to actual damages, did not intend
to prevent juries from levying awards that serve im-
portant state interests and provide a meaningful de-
terrent against corporate misconduct. At the same
time, we recognize that one million dollars, in rela-
tionship to the amount of harm that occurred in this
case, is constitutionally excessive. Although there
is no algorithm that yields a precise figure, we are
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persuaded that an award that was less than
$250,000 would not serve as a meaningful deterrent
to a corporation like AT&T. An award greater than
this amount, however, would prove an unconstitu-
tional windfall.

FN9. This does not mean, however, that
the wealth of a defendant can justify an
otherwise unconstitutional punitive dam-
ages award. See Campbell, 538 U.S. at
427, 123 S.Ct. 1513. For example, while
the wealth of a defendant is a legitimate
consideration in determining the reason-
ableness of the jury's award, it cannot be
the sole basis for a large punitive award in
the absence of any of the “guideposts’ ar-
ticulated by the Supreme Court, such as the
reprehensibility of a defendant's conduct.
See Gore, 517 U.S. at 591, 116 S.Ct. 1589
(Breyer, J., concurring).

We therefore affirm the district court's denia of
AT&T's motion for judgment as a matter of law,
but reverse the trial court's denial of AT&T's mo-
tion to reduce the punitive award, remanding with
directions to the trial court to reduce the punitive
damages award to $250,000.

AFFIRMED IN PART, REVERSED IN PART,
AND REMANDED.

C.A.11 (Ga.),2004.
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